
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 

TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

 
To: The Members of the Liverpool City Region 
 Transport Committee 
 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Liverpool City Region Transport 
Committee to be held on Wednesday, 13th January, 2021 at 2.00pm. This 
meeting is being held remotely. 
 
The meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the 
Combined Authority’s website at the time of the meeting and follow the 
instructions on the page. 

 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1079. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 

 
Chief Executive  

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk  
 
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

 
 

TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting of the Transport Committee 
held on 10 December 2020. 
 

  (Pages 1 - 8) 

4. MERSEY TUNNEL TOLLS 2020/21  

 To consider a report of the Lead Officer- Transport relating to the Mersey 
Tunnel Tolls for 2020/21. 
 

  (Pages 9 - 16) 

5. MERSEYTRAVEL BUDGET SETTING REPORT - 2021/22  

 To consider a report of the Treasurer which sets out the Merseytravel 
Budget for 2021/22.  
 

  (Pages 17 - 36) 

6. SOUTH LIVERPOOL GLOBAL GATEWAY EASTERN ACCESS 
CORRIDOR - UPDATE  

 To consider a report of Interim Director of Integrated Transport to provide 
Members with a progress update on the development of the Outline 
Business Case for the project. 
 

  (Pages 37 - 42) 

7. SUBMISSION OF EVIDENCE TO THE TRANSPORT SELECT 
COMMITTEE- MAJOR TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS: 
APPRAISAL AND DELIVERY  

 To consider a report of the Director of Policy and strategic Commissioning 
regarding the Committee’s input to the Transport Select Committee call for 
evidence. 
 

  (Pages 43 - 54) 



 

 

8. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

 Members of the public will be given the opportunity to ask questions which 
have been submitted in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 
11.  
 
A period of 30 minutes will be allocated for this item and copies of valid 
questions will be circulated at the meeting. 
 
Members of the public who wish to submit questions are asked to contact 
Democratic Services by either: 
Email: democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0151 330 1086 
In writing: Democratic Services, LCR Combined Authority, No.1 Mann 
Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 
 
A pro-forma will be supplied which, for this meeting must be returned by 
5.00pm on Monday 11 January 2021. In this respect, return details are set 
out in the pro-forma. 
 
 

   

9. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS  

 Members of the public will be given the opportunity to submit a single 
petition or statement in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 11. 
 
Members of the Public who wish to submit a single petition or statement 
are asked to contact Democratic Services by either: 
 
Email: democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0151 330 1086 
In writing: Democratic Services, LCR Combined Authority, No.1 Mann 
Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 
 
All petitions and statements for this meeting should be submitted to 
Merseytravel, using the contact details above, by 5.00pm on Monday 11 
January 2021.  
 

   

10. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR  

   
 

 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting of the Transport Committee held remotely on Thursday, 10th 
December, 2020 the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor L Robinson 
Chairperson of the Transport Committee 

(in the Chair)  
 

Councillor 
 
P Cleary, J Dodd, G Friel, S Foulkes, P Hayes, H Howard, N Killen, A Lavelle, 
M O'Mara MBE, K McGlashan, L Mooney, N Nicholas, J Pearson, G Philbin, G 
Stockton, J Stockton, H Thompson, M Uddin, J Williams and F Wynn. 
 
 
33. CHAIRPERSON'S REMARKS  
 

The Chairperson of the Committee, Councillor Liam Robinson welcomed 
everyone to the third virtual meeting of the Transport Committee and hoped that 
Members, Officers and the viewing public were all safe and well. 

 
34. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors A Jones and S 
Murphy.  
 

The Committee noted that Councillor P McKinley was unable to join the 
meeting due to technical difficulties. 

 
35. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

36. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the last meeting of the Transport 

Committee held on 5 November 2020, be approved as a correct record.  

 

Councillor Helen Thompson wished to note that due to technical difficulties 
she was unable to participate in the last meeting however she explained that she was 
able to follow the proceedings via the Live Stream and asked for this to be reflected 
in the minutes.  

 

37. SMART TICKETING PROGRAMME UPDATE  
 

The Committee considered the report of the Assistant Director for Customer 

Delivery, Gary Evans, which provided an update on the Smart Ticketing programme.  

 

Gary Evans explained this was the latest in a series of reports detailing the 
progress that had been made on the development of Smart Ticketing across the 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Transport Network within the City Region and the report outlined the proposed next 
steps. 

 
Gary Evans informed the Committee that since the introduction of Term Time 

Solo Products to the Smart Portal in August 2020 the number of registered users on 
the portal had increased. It was explained that there was over 7,000 registered users 
and half of these registrations had taken place since August 2020. The Committee 
were also informed that there had been over 4000 sales since the Smart Portal was 
first launched in January 2020. 

 
Following investment to fit all of the City Region’s buses with model 2 

Electronic Ticket Machines (ETM’s) which allowed passengers to purchase tickets 
using card payments it was explained that a new bus company, Warrington Buses 
had been introduced. Gary Evans also informed the Committee that the Combined 
Authority had purchased a number of handheld ETM’s to allow additional capacity to 
be added to the Bus network should it be required. 

 
The Committee heard that work was underway to introduce platform 

validators across all of the rail stations in the City Region and an example was given 
that 187 platform validators were going into operation in the Merseyrail estate over 
the coming month.  

 
Gary Evans reported that detailed work was also being carried out on the 

Legal Scheme Agreement alongside a zonal review with the aim of simplifying the 
ticketing zones. The Committee were informed that an update would be provided on 
this issue in due course.  

 
Councillor Gordon Friel questioned how secure the Smart Portal was against 

cyber-attacks. It was explained that as Metro Cards are anonymous, privacy did not 
currently pose any major issues to the Combined Authority. However, as the Smart 
Portal was being developed over time more individual information would be stored 
and it was explained that this was being considered in detail. The Committee heard 
that the Combined Authority would seek assurances that any data that was being 
transferred was encrypted and that GDPR guidelines were being followed.  

 
Councillor John Stockton questioned whether there had been lower demand 

for Solo products over the course of the pandemic. It was explained that demand for 
all products had been down during the pandemic due to patronage levels being lower 
than usual. However, it was also explained that the demand for contactless 
transactions had increased with transport networks encouraging contactless options 
and it was noted that this was a real positive for the Combined Authority and 
presented a great opportunity.  

 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson thanked Gary Evans for the 

comprehensive report and highlighted that great progress had been made. Councillor 
Robinson added that the roll out of platform validators and having a bus fleet with 
smart ticketing and contactless payments options meant that the City Region was in 
a great position compared to other parts of the Country. 

 
RESOLVED - That the contents of the report be noted.  
 
 
 

 

Page 2



38. RESPONDING TO HIGH SPEED 2 PHASE 2B WESTERN LEG DESIGN 
REFINEMENT CONSULTATION  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Interim Director of Integrated 

Transport which set out a draft response to the consultation launched on 7 October 
2020 by the Department for Transport on 4 proposed refinements to the design of the 
Western Leg of High Speed 2 Phase 2B. 

 
Tom Carbery, Rail Development Advisor, explained that the consultation was 

seeking views on the four proposed refinements in Crewe, Manchester Piccadilly, 
Scotland and Manchester Airport’s High Speed Rail Station. It was highlighted that 
the Combined Authorities response focused on the three refinements in the North 
West of England.  

 
Tom Carbery informed the Committee that the three proposed refinements in 

the North West were based on design development, ongoing engagement and future 
integration with the Northern Powerhouse Rail. It was added that these proposals 
showed that High Speed 2 was starting to formally recognise Northern Powerhouse 
Rail as a viable entity.  

 
It was explained that a recent announcement from Central Government had 

confirmed two previously consulted changes including proceeding with the Northern 
Powerhouse Rail (NPR) touchpoints on the High Speed 2 route in the High Legh 
area in Cheshire. Tom Carbery informed the Committee that this was very significant 
for the City Region as a future NPR line could link into High Speed 2 and 
subsequently be connected to Liverpool to ensure that the City Region have full 
Northern Powerhouse Rail and High Speed 2 connectivity. 

  
Tom Carbery explained each of the three proposed refinements in the North 

West to the Committee: 
 

 A new junction to the North of Crewe which would allow trains to re-join 

the HS2 route; 

 Provisional platforms to be added to Manchester Airport which would 

allow Northern Powerhouse Rail services to stop at the Manchester 

Airport Station; and  

 Two additional platforms at Manchester Piccadilly to also allow Northern 

Powerhouse Rail services to stop. 

Tom Carbery informed the Committee that the Combined Authority had raised 
concerns in the consultation response that there were missed opportunities at 
Manchester Piccadilly. It was explained that Officers in Manchester had designed an 
underground station for Northern Powerhouse Rail as well as the two surface 
platforms proposed by HS2.  

 
Tom Carbery concluded his presentation by stating that the proposed 

changes in the consultation exercise represented a necessary step towards the wider 
transformation that the Liverpool City Region were seeking from the Rail Network 
through HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail.  

 
Councillor Ken McGlashan referred to the new port facilities in the City Region 

and added that this would reduce road traffic which in turn would lead to lower 
carbon emissions. Councillor McGlashan also highlighted that the existing link lines 
from the port need to be upgraded in order to cope with the expected higher capacity 
and therefore asked Tom Carvery to highlight these issues in the consultation 

Page 3



response.  It was explained that the issues raised by Councillor McGlashan would be 
added to the consultation response accordingly. It was also reported that Officers at 
the Combined Authority were continuing to work with Transport for the North on the 
phasing of new routes and were promoting building the Liverpool to Manchester 
corridor first as this would bring the biggest benefit to the City Region. 

 
 Councillor Gordon Friel noted that rail freight was a very important element to 

the High Speed 2 development and thanked officers for including this in the 
consultation response.  

 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson, thanked Tom Carbery for the 

excellent report. Councillor Robinson also commented that he very pleased that the 
response recognised the importance of a classic compatible High Speed service 
through Runcorn given that this was a vital part of the South East Corner that would 
benefit the whole City Region. 

 
RESOLVED - That the consultation response to the refinement of the High 

Speed 2 Western Leg design consultation as set out within the Appendix of the report 
be agreed. 

 
39. UNION CONNECTIVITY REVIEW  
 

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Policy and Strategic 
Commissioning which set out a draft response to the consultation launched on 16 
November 2020 into how connectivity across the UK can support economic growth 
and quality of life post covid-19.  

 
Suzanne Cain, Transport Policy Co-ordinator, informed the Committee that 

the consultation was being led by Sir Peter Hendy and covered road, rail, air and sea 
links between England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.  

 
The Committee heard that due to the tight timeframe the response presented 

in the report was a working progress which set out the key areas the Combined 
Authority wished to cover in their response. It was explained that as a City Region 
with a travel to work area that extended across the border, the main focus of the 
response was improvements to the borderlands and access to North Wales.  

 
Suzanne Cain explained that the response also provided an opportunity to set 

out the need to improve port access as well as the Liverpool to Belfast links and the 
longstanding need for improved rail links into Scotland. It was reported that more 
detail would be added to the response covering the need to improve links out of the 
Liverpool Port to Northern Ireland and the importance of Liverpool John Lennon 
Airport. The Committee heard that The Combined Authority had requested data and 
evidence from Liverpool John Lennon Airport to be included in the response.  

 
Suzanne Cain informed the Committee that the final response would also 

include more detail on the opportunity to strengthen links to North Wales and Cardiff 
via Halton Curve and Transpennie Express Services into Glasgow and Edinburgh. 
The response also set out the role of rail freight across the Nation’s corridors, 
highlighting the importance of removing as much traffic from the roads as possible.  

 
  Councillor Steve Foulkes requested that the 12 Quays roll on roll off facility in 

Birkenhead was mentioned by name in the consultation response as he explained it 
was a vital facility that served both Dublin and Belfast.  

 

Page 4



Councillor Gordon Friel thanked Suzanne for the excellent report and 
commented that the consultation response showed a fantastic example of how each 
of the Nations were able to be united.  

 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson echoed Councillor Friel’s 

comments and stated that he believed the Union Connectivity Review was going to 
be a very influential piece of work that was going to be vital for the Liverpool City 
Region. Councillor Robinson added that he would like all Committee Members to see 
the final version of the response before it was submitted however highlighted that 
due to the Christmas Period there may be a tight deadline for Member’s feedback.  

 
RESOLVED - That:-  

 
(i) the comments raised by the Committee be incorporated into the draft 

response appended to the report; and 
 

(ii) delegated Authority be granted to the Director of Policy & Strategic 
Commissioning, in conjunction with the Chair of the Transport 
Committee to finalise the response, ahead of its submission to the 
Department for Transport by the deadline of 30 December 2020. 

 
40. QUARTERLY BUS UPDATE  
 

The Committee considered the report of the Assistant Director for Bus which 
provided an update to Members on key bus issues relating to the third quarter of 
2020/21.  
 

Laura Needham, Bus Strategy Programme Manager, explained that the 
report detailed milestones of the Bus Alliance, progress on developing the 
commitment of the LCR Devolution Deal in respect of improving bus services and an 
overview of how the Bus Team had maintained a safe and reliable Bus Network 
during the Covid-19 Pandemic.  
 

Laura Needham informed the Committee that work was currently being 
undertaken on forecasting and modelling the impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic on 
the Transport Network in the City Region. It was explained that Members would 
receive more information in due course however it was highlighted that transport 
users’ behaviour had changed over the course of the pandemic and was likely to 
change over the next couple of years.  
 

It was explained that the Bus Alliance had deferred some milestones until 
2021-2022, particularly those centred around the ‘Better by Bus’ campaign as well as 
driver training. The Committee heard that a customer confidence campaign had 
recently been launched to increase bus users’ confidence in returning and using the 
Bus.  

 

Laura Needham explained to the Committee that an overview of the Bus 
Reform Assessment was presented in the report and informed the Committee that 
the Combined Authority had received four out of the five Outline Business Cases. 
The report also detailed how the Combined Authority had been working closely with 
Bus Operators in order to keep services operating during the pandemic. 
 

Councillor Gordon Friel questioned whether there was a date for the 
installation of Intelligent Transport Systems (ITS) on route 53 and the installation of 

Page 5



RTI screens at Bootle and Huyton Bus Station. It was explained that dates would be 
provided to Councillor Friel in writing. Councillor Friel also questioned whether 
matters were being progressed in line with the Traffic Signalling Systems at Local 
Authorities. It was explained that The Combined Authority Asset Management Team 
were working closely with other Authorities in order to identify signals that needed 
upgrading and integrating them with the wider ITS. 
 

Councillor John Stockton commented that he was very impressed with the 
work on the Green Bus Routes and Hydrogen Buses and noted how it complimented 
the Green agenda. Councillor Stockton wished to place on record his thanks to all of 
the officers involved with these projects.  
 

The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson thanked Laura Needham for the 
excellent report and referred to the confidence building campaign, noting that during 
the course of the pandemic there had been negative perceptions around Public 
Transport. Councillor Robinson expressed the need to reassure passengers that the 
Transport Network is safe to use.  
 

Councillor Robinson also recommended that a wider piece of work should be 
carried out into how the effects of the pandemic would affect individuals travel 
patterns and requested that the findings were presented at a future Committee 
meeting. 

 

RESOLVED - That the contents of the report be noted.  
 

41. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 

The committee received a question from Mr Peter Jackson as follows:  
 

‘Given the current strain on public funds due to Covid, does the committee 
find it acceptable that Merseytravel is spending thousands on free Christmas Day 
buses, as many of these Christmas Day buses run more frequently/provide links 
which aren't available on any day of the year except Christmas Day?’ 
 

The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson, responded by stating that 
Christmas Day Buses were a vital link to Hospitals across the City Region for 
individuals who needed to make essential journeys including front-line NHS Staff, 
who without this service may struggle to get to work. Councillor Robinson also 
explained that many additional festive period resources such as late-night services 
had not been utilised this year.  

 
Councillor Robinson stated that the Combined Authority were very conscious 

about budgeting responsibly however on balance it was decided the free Christmas 
Day service would still go ahead as morally it was the right thing to do.  

 
The Chair thanked Mr Peter Jackson for submitting his question and 

explained a detailed, formal written response would be provided within 10 working 
days.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



42. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS  
 

There were no petitions or statements received. 
 
 
Minutes 33 to 42 received as a correct record on the 13th day of January 2021. 
 

 
 
 

Chairperson of the Transport Committee   
 

(The meeting closed at 2.49 pm) 
 
 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee 
  
Meeting:     13 January 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All Areas 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE LEAD OFFICER: TRANSPORT  
 

Mersey Tunnel Tolls 2021/22 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority ("the LCRA") is responsible for 

determining the level of tolls ("the tolls") payable for use of the Mersey Tunnels 
("the Tunnels"). 

 
1.2 This report is intended to assist the LCRCA by allowing the following issues to be 

explained and discussed by the Transport Committee and for a recommendation 
to be made to the LCRCA on the level of tolls. This report will: 

 
(a) outline the legal procedure for revising the level of the tolls; 
 
(b) summarise the current level of tolls; and 
 
(c) make proposals for the level of tolls payable in 2021/22. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Balancing the different factors associated with setting the Mersey Tunnel tolls, the 

Transport Committee is recommended to: 
 

(a)  note the contents of this report; 
 
(b) note the level of “authorised tolls” for the Mersey Tunnels as determined 

by the County of Merseyside Act 1980 (as amended by the Mersey 
Tunnels Act 2004), with details on calculation methods explained in 
section 3 of this report; 

 
(c) recommend that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority implement 

a schedule of tolls contained in Table 1 below with effect from Thursday 1 
April 2021: -  

  
  

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

Vehicle 
Class 

Authorised 
Toll 21/22 
(November 
RPI) 

2021/22 
Cash Toll  

2021/22 Fast 
Tag Toll – 
LCR 
Resident* 

2021/22 Fast 
Tag Toll – 
Non LCR 
Resident 

1 £2.10 £1.80 £1.00 £1.80 

2 £4.20 £3.60 £2.40 £2.40 

3 £6.30 £5.40 £3.60 £3.60 

4 £8.50 £7.20 £4.80 £4.80 

  
*Liverpool City Region (LCR) resident defined as living within the electoral 
boundaries of Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral. 

 
(d)  recommend that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority continue to 

offer the additional discounts set out in paragraph 3.14 of this report for 
2021/22.  

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1  The tunnels were built as a joint venture by the local authorities and, as such, their 

upkeep and maintenance remains outside of the national highway network and so 
is not funded through road tax or general taxation. 

 
3.2 The County of Merseyside Act 1980 ("the 1980 Act"), as amended by the Mersey 

Tunnels Act 2004 ("the 2004 Act"), sets out the procedure for revising the tolls.  
Under Section 91(7) of the 1980 Act, the LCRCA must make an Order in February 
of each year ("a Section 91 Order") fixing the amount of tolls payable by each 
class of vehicle from the following April.  Notably an Order can be made at other 
points in the year.  There are four prescribed classes of vehicles, each with 
subcategories, as follows: 

 

Class Subcategories 

1. (a) Motor cycle with side car and 3 wheeled vehicle. 

 (b) Motor car and goods vehicle up to 3.5 tonnes 
gross weight. 

 (c) Passenger vehicle other than a motor car with 
seating capacity for under 9 persons. 

2. (a) Motor car and goods vehicle up to 3.5 tonnes 
gross weight, with trailer. 

 (b) Goods vehicle over 3.5 tonnes gross weight, with 
two axles. 

 (c) Passenger vehicle with seating capacity for 9 or 
more persons, with two axles. 

3. (a) Goods vehicle over 3.5 tonnes gross weight, with 
three axles. 

 (b) Passenger vehicle with seating capacity for 9 or 
more persons, with three axles. 

4. Goods vehicle over 3.5 tonnes gross weight, with 4 or 
more axles. 

 
 

Page 10



3.3 The overriding presumption in the 1980 Act (as amended) is that tolls rise in line 
with inflation, so preserving their value in real terms.  The increase in the tolls 
authorised by the 1980 Act (the "authorised tolls") is calculated by: 

 
(a) taking the "base" toll amounts set out in Section 91(6) of the 1980 Act for 

each class; 
 
(b) increasing them by the same percentage increase as the rise in the Retail 

Prices Index ("RPI") from November 1999 ("the base month") to the 
November immediately preceding the making of the Section 91 Order; and 
then 

 
(c) rounding the new value up or down to the nearest ten pence. 

 
3.4 Section 92C of the 1980 Act also gives the LCRCA discretion to reduce the 

amount of actual tolls payable by any particular class of traffic or payment type to 
less than the authorised toll where it is deemed necessary or appropriate to do so 
having regard to matters of an economic or social nature within the City Region. 

 
3.5 When making decisions on the amount of tolls to be levied, it is very important that 

the LCRCA must consider the purpose of the legislation with respect to the level of 
toll. In particular: 

 
(a) the relative costs of using the Mersey Tunnels must keep pace with other 

transport alternatives; 
 
(b) it ensures that sufficient funds are available to cover the costs of operating 

and maintaining the Mersey Tunnels, including the repayment of the 
historic debt relating to the construction and operation of the Mersey 
Tunnels; and 

 
(c) consideration should be given to local economic indicators and in 

particular the relative cost of a tolled river crossing in relation to other river 
crossing options and the need for these to be kept broadly consistent over 
time 

 
3.6 Following the discharge of these financial responsibilities, the 1980 Act allows the 

City Region to generate a surplus of income over immediate expenditure. The 
purpose of this is to provide sufficient resources for long term asset management 
of the tunnels, including capital financing requirements related to major schemes 
to ensure business continuity and safe operation. 

 
3.7 In addition, the 1980 Act allows the City Region to benefit from tunnel revenue by 

making any surpluses not identified for the tunnels themselves to be made 
available to finance other transport infrastructure priorities across the City Region. 

 
Authorised Tolls – 2021/22 
 
3.8 In determining a schedule for tolls in any given year, the legislation is clear that the 

starting point must be the authorised toll. The level of the authorised toll is 
calculated each December based on the retail price index for the previous 
November. 

Page 11



 
3.9 The RPI in November 2020 dictates the following levels of “authorised tolls” for the 

Mersey Tunnels from 1 April 2021. For the benefit of Members, the table below 
shows the difference from the previous year also: 

 

Vehicle Class Authorised Toll 2020/21 Authorised Toll 2021/22 

1 £2.10 £2.10 

2 £4.20 £4.20 

3 £6.30 £6.30 

4 £8.40 £8.50 

 
3.10 The following table shows the tolls payable over the past five years and compares 

the amount of toll that could have been levied (i.e. the “authorised toll”, being that 
reflecting the rise in inflation) against the “actual” tolls, as well as the additional 
discount for Fast Tag users: 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current Tunnel Usage Data 
 

3.11 A key indicator for Members to consider when determining toll levels is the existing 
usage data for the Mersey Tunnels. Attached as Appendix A is a line graph 
showing total toll paying vehicles through the Tunnels since January 2000. This 
data tracks actual usage and average trends, taking out specific factors such as 
large events and other seasonal impacts. This data helps to demonstrate the 
impacts Covid-19 has had on traffic usage, and this is likely transferred to 
economic outputs. However, the impact of this economic downturn has not been 
the toll itself, but more the wider impacts of the pandemic itself. 

 
3.12 Another key factor for members to consider is the % of customers who use either 

cash, bank card or Fast Tag as payment methods through the Tunnel. The table 
below sets out the % of Cash and Fast Tag customers across all classes as at 
November 2020. Following the toll changes made in April 2019, introducing the 
Liverpool City Region discounted Fast Tag toll, the table shows more than 50% of 
all users pay the discounted rate of £1.00 per journey The migration to card 
payments from cash has been as a direct result of the impacts of Covid-19: - 

  

Class Toll Apr 
‘16 

Apr 
‘17 

Apr 
‘18 

Apr ‘19 Apr ‘20 

1 Authorised £1.90 £1.90 £2.00 £2.00 £2.10 

Actual Cash £1.70 £1.70 £1.80 £1.80 £1.80 

Fast Tag £1.40 £1.20 £1.20 £1.80/ £1 £1.80/£1 

2 Authorised £3.70 £3.70 £4.00 £4.10 £4.20 

Actual Cash £3.40 £3.40 £3.60 £3.60 £3.60 

Fast Tag £2.80 £2.40 £2.40 £2.40 £2.40 

3 Authorised £5.60 £5.60 £6.00 £6.10 £6.30 

Actual Cash £5.10 £5.10 £5.40 £5.40 £5.40 

Fast Tag £4.20 £3.60 £3.60 £3.60 £3.60 

4 Authorised £7.40 £7.50 £7.90 £8.20 £8.40 

Actual Cash £6.80 £6.80 £7.20 £7.20 £7.20 

Fast Tag £5.60 £4.80 £4.80 £4.80 £4.80 

Page 12



 

Cash Bank Card LCRCA 
Discount Tag 

Standard Fast 
Tag 

16.6% 22.4% 49.4% 9.8% 

 
**Details in the table above are based on week commencing 7 December 2020 

 
3.13 One key issue Members must be aware of is the pandemic is on-going and it is 

increasingly difficult to predict the economic and social impacts of the pandemic. 
Changes to the Mersey Tunnels tolls may have unplanned impacts during the 
pandemic, so it is suggested no change to current actual tolls is considered until 
the social and economic impacts are better understood. 

 
Additional Discounts 
 
3.14 As part of the on-going Tunnel tolls review process, a number of discounts are 

offered as part of the Tunnel tolls setting process for 2020/21. These are: - 
 

 All emergency service liveried vehicles to be allowed free travel through 
the Mersey Tunnels; 
 

 Travel through the Mersey Tunnels between 10pm on 24 December and 
6.00am on 26 December each year be allowed free in recognition that the 
majority of public transport services are not available during these times. 
 

 A reduced Fast Tag charge for Fast Tag account holders who are resident 
within the Liverpool City Region. This discount will be available for class 1 
vehicles and applicable to just private Fast Tag accounts, not business 
account Tag holders. 
 

 The existing Tunnels disabled concessionary travel scheme. 
 
3.15 It is proposed that these discounts/ concessions remain in place during 2021/22. 
 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
 The measures outlined above have been accommodated in the budget setting 

process for 2021/22 and will see income from toll revenue for 2021/22 reduce 
significantly from previous years. The impact on Covid-19 has seen traffic volumes 
reduce by varying amounts dependent upon the various lockdown restrictions – 
leading to approximately 25% loss of income for 2020/21. For budget setting 
purpose officers have assumed 90% of traffic volumes compared with 2019/20 
usage. This reduction in traffic and increase in some of the tolls will see a revenue 
budget of circa £35m for 2021/22 - a 10% reduction from 2020/21 budgets. It must 
be stressed that this figure will vary dependent upon the level of usage which is 
more difficult to predict with any certainty. Operating and maintenance costs are 
largely unaffected during the same period. 

  
  

Page 13



 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
 There are no specific HR related issues associated with this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no specific Asset related issues associated with this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no IT related issues associated with this report. 
 
4.5 PMO Implications 
 
 There are no PMO implications associated with this report. 
 
 
5.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 The risks associated with this report have been considered and mitigated through 

effective budget planning, balanced against the need to ensure regular on-going 
maintenance of what are critical assets for the region. The safe on-going operation 
of the tunnels is a critical risk to the organisation, as well as understanding the 
economic and social impacts of Covid-19.  

 
 
6.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed in respect of this 

recommendation. As the report recommends no changes to the level of Mersey 
Tunnel Tolls or the concessionary/ discount arrangements, then there are no direct 
impacts on any members of our community with protected characteristics. 

 
 
7.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 The detailed proposals within this report will be accompanied by stakeholder and 

media communications activity to ensure key points are summarised. 
 
 
8.  PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no privacy implications associated with this report. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 In considering a suitable recommendation for the LCRCA, Members must balance 

a range of relevant information associated with the usage and pricing of the 
Mersey Tunnels, along with the details of the 2004 Act. This report sets out the 
details around each of these issues and recommends to Members the most 

Page 14



appropriate toll levels for 2021/22, in effect remaining unchanged for the next 
financial year. 

 
 

GARY EVANS 
Assistant Director Customer Delivery 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Gary Evans, Merseytravel, 0151 330 4502 
Joanna Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager 0151 330 1129 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – Mersey Tunnels Historic Traffic Data 
 
Background Documents:  
 
County of Merseyside Act 1980, as amended by the Mersey Tunnels Act 2004.  

Page 15



Appendix A 
 

 
 
 

1800

1900

2000

2100

2200

2300

2400

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

M
o

n
th

ly
 T

o
ta

ls
 

T
h

o
u

s
a
n

d
s

 

Mersey Tunnels Monthly Traffic Trends. January 2000 to November 2020 Total Toll Paying Vehicles 

Month
ly…

P
age 16



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee 
  
Meeting:     13 January 2021 
 
Authorities Affected:    All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE TREASURER  
 

BUDGET SETTING REPORT 2021/22 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Members will be aware the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 

has a statutory duty to agree a Levy for 2021/22 before 14 February 2021.  To 
assist the LCRCA in its deliberations, the Transport Committee will consider 
Merseytravel’s financial situation and recommend budget options. 

 
1.2 This report details the draft revenue budget and capital programme for 

Merseytravel for 2021/22.   
 
1.3 The budget report also provides details of the price/fares proposed for 2021/22 to 

which approval is sought. 
 
1.4 To allow Members to determine the revenue grants payable to Merseytravel in 

respect of general operations and Mersey Tunnels for 2021/22 and to recommend 
these to the LCRCA. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
 It is recommended that the Transport Committee:- 

 
(a) request LCRCA to approve 2021/22 operating grants for both public 

transport and Mersey Tunnels operating activities as detailed in section 4 
of this report; 
 

(b) consider and approve the decision in respect of fares/prices included 
within this report; and 

 
(c) request LCRCA to approve the capital programme as detailed in section 4. 

 
 

  

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



3. BACKGROUND  
 
3.1 The Transport Committee recommended the budget for 2020/21 to the LCRCA at 

its meeting on 16 January 2020.  This budget was subsequently approved by the 
LCRCA at its meeting on 24 January 2020 and the Merseytravel levy was set at 
£97.4m.  The Merseytravel operating grant was agreed at £94.1m and the Mersey 
Tunnels operating grant at £23.9m.  The approved budget for 2020/21 has been 
used as the starting point from which to develop the 2021/22 estimates. 

 
3.2 In accordance with the medium term financial strategy approved by Merseytravel 

at its meeting on 28 February 2018, increases to the base budget have been 
limited to contractual inflation, the impact of pay award and the reduction in 
Special Rail Grant from Government. 

 
3.3 Whilst Merseytravel is funded predominantly through grant there are a number of 

areas in which services have the ability to generate income.  As part of the budget 
setting process, services with the ability to generate fees and charges review the 
levels at which these should be set for the forthcoming year. 

 
 
4. MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE BUDGETS 2021/22 
 
MERSEY TUNNELS 
 
4.1 Whilst the Mersey Tunnels are assets of the LCRCA, day to day operation of the 

tunnels has been formally delegated to Merseytravel.  Gross income from the 
tunnels for 2021/22 is forecast to be £35m, subject to the LCRCA approving the 
recommendation made by the Transport Committee on 13th January 2021 in 
respect of the schedule of tolls applicable in 2021/22. 

 
4.2 From this revenue, an operating grant will be made to Merseytravel to fund the day 

to day operation of the tunnels alongside necessary capital investment.  The 
estimated grant for the operation of the Mersey Tunnels for 2021/22 is £23.08m. 

 
4.3 As the Tunnels are the assets of the LCRCA, any income generated over that 

required to meet the operational costs of the Tunnels is passed back to the 
LCRCA.  Tunnels revenues are also used by the LCRCA to fund its other transport 
priorities, such as the Mersey Ferries in accordance with the County of Merseyside 
Act 1980 (the 1980 Act) as amended by the Mersey Tunnels Act 2004.   

 
4.4 Although Merseytravel has delegated authority for the day to day operation of the 

Tunnels, it is not a Merseytravel service and consequently responsibility for 
determining the level of tolls payable for the use of Mersey Tunnels rests with 
LCRCA.  Consequently this report does not cover the setting of tolls for 2021/22 
as this is subject to a separate report to the LCRCA. 

 
  
  

Page 18



MERSEYTRAVEL TRANSPORT ACTIVITIES 
 
4.5 The table below details the proposed revenue budget for Merseytravel for 2021/22 

and the projected outturn for 2020/21.   
 
Table 1 Merseytravel Summary Budget 2021/22 
 

  Projected 
Outturn 
2020/21 

Forward 
Estimate 
2021/22 

£'000 £'000 

Corporate Management  735 822 

Transport Services 118,497 120,945 

Total Expenditure 119,232 121,767 

Funded by   

Merseytravel Operating Grant (94,114) (93,114) 

Mersey Tunnels Operating Grant (21,080) (23,088) 

Rolling Stock Project Costs Grant from the 
LCRCA 

(1,841) (2,926) 

Use of Reserves –Merseytravel (2,197) (2,639) 

Total Income (119,232) (121,767) 

Net Requirement 0 0 

 
4.6 The table below provides a more detailed breakdown of the proposed revenue 

budget for 2021/22.  A more granular analysis is included at Appendix A. 
 
Table 2 Merseytravel Service Level Proposed Budget 2021/22 
 

Service Area Projected 
Outturn 
2020/2021 
£’000 

Proposed 
Budget 
2021/2022 
£’000 

Bus 18,798 19,554 

Rail 4,694 6,744 

Rolling Stock 1,841 2,926 

Concessionary Travel 49,985 48,487 

Ferries 2,971 1,911 

Mersey Tunnels 15,414 16,213 

Customer Delivery 4,306 4,718 

IT 4,267 4,478 

Policy & LTP 313 346 

People Development 1,217 1,183 

Asset Management 10,856 10,133 

Finance 1,315 1,260 

Legal & Democratic Services 1,139 1,208 

Internal Audit 438 583 

Programme Management Office 434 452 

Corporate Costs 783 748 

Corporate Management 735 822 

Total 119,232 121,767 

Page 19



 
4.7 The proposed Transport Levy for 2021/22 is £97.4m, a static Levy position from 

2020/21.  It is proposed that the grant to Merseytravel to support service provision, 
which is funded through the Levy, for 2021/22 is £93.1m, which represents a 
reduction of £1m when compared with the grant payable to Merseytravel in 
2020/21.   

 
4.8 To support the project costs associated with the delivery of the replacement 

Rolling Stock, a grant of £2.926m has been made by the  LCRCA to Merseytravel. 
Both organisations had earmarked reserves to support the costs associated with 
the project and, having extinguished those held by Merseytravel, the funding to 
support the project is now flowing down from the LCRCA. 

 
4.9 The Tunnels Operating grants for 2021/22 is £23.08m, which is a reduction of 

£800k when compared with the budgeted grant for 2020/21.  In keeping with the 
treatment adopted in 2020/21 the debt servicing element of Tunnels expenditure 
are budgeted and accounted for within the LCRCA budget. 

 
4.10 The table below details the distribution of the Levy over the constituent districts. 

Note that any changes in distribution between 2020/21 and 2021/22 are solely as 
a result of population changes.  Note also that arrangements in respect of Halton 
recognise that Halton is responsible for delivering transport services within its own 
boundaries and therefore sits outside of the main transport levy mechanism. 

 
 Table 3 Distribution of Merseytravel Levy 
 

 2020/21 
£’000 

2021/22 
£’000 

Knowlsey 10,240 10,279 

Liverpool 33,869 33,924 

Sefton 18,851 18,828 

St Helens 12,321 12,302 

Wirral 22,123 22,071 

Total 97,404 97,404 

 
4.11 The proposed Levy for 2021/22 is unchanged from the level approved in 2020/21.  

Members will recall that in 2020/21 the Levy increased by 2.1%, the first increase 
in the Levy since 2013/14.  During the period 2013/14 through to and 2017/18, the 
Merseytravel Levy reduced by £31.6m, an overall reduction that exceeded the 
corresponding reduction in Revenue Support Grant over the same period.  In real 
terms the Levy has remained flat since.  Reducing the Merseytravel Transport 
Levy has had significant benefits to constituent districts, allowing a greater share 
of scarce resources to be made available to fund other services.   

 
4.12 The reduction in Levy has been managed by Merseytravel through a combination 

of efficiencies, alternative funding options and use of reserves, however continued 
reliance on reserves does not represent a sustainable financial model and it is not 
prudent to seek recourse to these to fund the ongoing revenue budget of the 
organisation.  

 
4.13 The increase in Levy in 2021/22 helped alleviate some of the pressures and 

however balancing the budget over the last two years has relied on the application 

Page 20



of slippage targets to service areas and utilising savings arising from the latest 
pensions triennial revaluation.  The next triennial revaluation is due in twelve 
months and a number of factors, including the McCloud ruling and the impact of 
Covid 19 on pension fund’s holdings mean that there is a risk that pensions costs 
could increase placing additional cost burdens on Merseytravel. 

 
4.14 The overall Levy is now at a level whereby to ensure sustained service provision 

at current levels, increases to the Levy will be required in future years.  Without 
further increases to resources, it is likely that service provision will become 
unsustainable and there will be a need to review service levels and policy 
decisions to ensure that transport services remain affordable. 

 
 
5. MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
5.1. The revised 2020/21 and draft 2021/22 capital programme are summarised below.  

The total revised capital programme for 2020/21 is £160m and for 2021/22 is 
£144m including tunnels.  A detailed breakdown of the capital programme is 
included at Appendix B. 

 
Table 4 Merseytravel Summary Capital Programme 
 

Service Area 2020/2021 
£’000 

2021/2022 
£’000 

Bus 1,718 9,766 

Rail 16,512 23,250 

Rolling Stock 124,434 94,159 

Ferries 8,586 6,300 

Tunnels 6,205 7,480 

Hubs 0 170 

IT 1,220 1,076 

Smart Ticketing 1,140 1,137 

Corporate Strategy 200 600 

Corporate Services 70 20 

Mann Island 0 93 

Total  160,085 144,051 

 
5.2 The Rolling Stock costs will be met through borrowing undertaken by the  LCRCA. 

The remainder of the programme will be funded through a mixture of grants 
flowing to Merseytravel via the LCRCA and amounts released from reserves. 
Tunnels capital is funded through revenue raised by Tunnel Tolls.  There is no 
reliance on Merseytravel reserves to support the proposed capital programme for 
2021/22.  

 
 
6. FEES AND CHARGES 
 
 MERSEY FERRIES 
 
6.1 The 2020/21 allowed budget for Mersey Ferries (excluding The Beatles Story) 

showed a deficit of £2m excluding recharges.  As Mersey Ferries is a company 
limited by guarantee, this means that a grant is required from Merseytravel to 

Page 21



allow the company to break even.  This grant is met through the Merseytravel 
operational grant, which in turn is funded by the Levy. 

 
6.2 Mersey Ferries prices were referred to in the Mersey Ferries Long Term Strategy, 

endorsed by Merseytravel Committee in January 2016, indicating that prices 
should increase annually by RPI plus 1%.  However in setting prices for what is 
primarily a leisure attraction, it does not present a clear pricing arrangement 
unless increased in multiples of 50p or more.  

 
6.3 The Covid 19 pandemic has had a significant negative impact on patronage and 

thus impact on income generated by the service.  Forecast for patronage over the 
next twelve remains subdued and it is currently forecast that due to ongoing 
restrictions and potential for continued social distancing measures, income for the 
projections are lower.  Due the challenges in bringing customers back to the 
Ferries it is proposed to maintain fares unchanged from their 2019/20 levels. 

 
SUPPORTED BUS SERVICES FARES 
 
6.4 Currently Merseytravel operates its own fares policy on the supported bus service 

network.  The adult single cash fare is £2.10 whereas the average commercial fare 
is circa £2.34.  Similarly Merseytravel charges £1.00 for a single child fare (age 5-
18) whereas commercial fares are usually half of the adult price. 

 
6.5 Merseytravel has consistently expressed a desire to maintain fares at an 

affordable level for passengers.  At the same time commercial operators have 
applied higher than inflationary increases on their services.  This has led to the 
current differential between commercial and supported bus fares.   

 
6.6 For 2021/22 it is proposed to freeze fares at their 2020/21 level.  The 

organisation’s ability to increase fares in constrained by our current receipt of 
Covid Bus Services Support Grant (CBSSG) as one of the conditions of 
acceptance is that no fare increases can be made whilst this grant is being paid.  It 
is currently envisaged that this grant will continue into 2021/22. This position can 
be subject to review as and when restrictions relax and the operating environment 
begins to normalise. 

 
 BUS STATION DEPARTURE CHARGES 
 
6.7 Bus station departure charges relate to commercial bus operators’ use of 

Merseytravel bus station facilities.  The current bus station agreements allow for 
charges to be increased by a maximum of RPI plus 2%.  This is a maximum and 
there is flexibility to propose increases below this level. For 2021/22 it is proposed 
that no increase is applied.  The table below details the charges to be applied 
across all staffed and unstaffed locations. 

 
  
  

Page 22



Table 4 Bus Station Departure Charges 
 

 2021/22 Rate 
£ 

Period 
Applicable 

Staffed bus station departure rates   

Standard rate 0.493 Per departure 

Rate 1 0.247 Per departure 

Rate 2 0.296 Per departure 

Rate 3 0.321 Per departure 

Rate 4 0.395 Per departure 

Rate 5 0.987 Per departure 

Unstaffed bus station departure rates   

Standard rate 0.175 Per departure 

Rate 1 0.087 Per departure 

Rate 2 0.105 Per departure 

Rate 3 0.114 Per departure 

Rate 4 0.140 Per departure 

Rate 5 0.350 Per departure 

 
 
7. FINANCIAL RISK AND RESERVES POSITION 
 
7.1 The table below details the reserves position for Merseytravel taking account of 

the projected use of reserves in 2020/21 and 2021/22. 
 

 Balance as at 
1 April 2021 
£’000 

Utilisation in 
Year 
£’000 

Balance at 31 
March 2022 
£’000 

Capital Reserves 
Earmarked Reserves 
Revenue/ Working Balances 

5,745 
45,101 
2,562 

0 
(2,639) 
0 

5,746 
42,462 
2,562 

Total 53,409 (2,639) 50,770 

 
7.2 As far as practicable, an in line with the policy previously agreed by Merseytravel, 

the application of reserves to support the budget have been minimised.  The 
proposed use of reserves relates to the requirement to contribute towards the 
reduction in Special Rail Grant and certain costs that flow back to Merseytravel 
under the concession arrangement.  

 
7.3 Whilst the budget has been set using the most robust estimates available and 

most current information available to support budget setting, there are a number of 
underlying costs pressures and risks that the organisation faces arising from the 
uncertainty around the recovery from the Covid 19 pandemic.  As far as is 
practicable these have been factored into the estimates however throughout the 
year these will be monitored and reported back to Members through the quarterly 
financial reporting cycle. 

 
7.4 The continued uncertainty around the local transport network recovery means that 

there is a risk that costs and income across the bus network will not recover as 
fast or to previously levels, or that the current restrictions for social distancing and 
remote working are retained longer than currently envisaged.  The budget is 
predicated on the basis that to the extent that additional requirements exist for bus 

Page 23



providers, additional costs will be offset by additional grant income from the 
government in the form of CBSSG.  To the extent that funding is not forthcoming 
there are potentially additional costs that could accrue to the organisation. 

 
7.5 The full implications of the pandemic on the bus network are still unclear and there 

is a risk that patronage levels do not recover or recover more slowly, thus making 
certain routes less viable.  Any commercial decisions taken by operators could 
have an impact on the level of supported or de minimis services that Merseytravel 
is required to provide under its current policy.  There is also a risk that the cost of 
tenders increase as operators seek to improve their own financial viability.  These 
permutations could translate into a pressure on the bus budget.  Given the 
uncertainty around this and the constraints on the overall budget, this will need to 
be monitored closely during the year with action taken to address any emerging 
pressures. 

 
7.6 With regards to the local rail network, the budget assumes that whilst difficulties 

will still be experienced by the concession holder, there is no imminent danger to 
the concession arrangements.  There is however a risk that Merseytravel could be 
liable for additional costs accruing to Merseyrail Electrics Limited (MEL) flowing 
through the No Net Loss, No Net Gain mechanism under the concession.   

 
7.7 A significant body of the work programmed in the capital programme relates to rail 

enhancements and the replacement of the rolling stock.  Much of the work 
associated with this is contracted through Network Rail who operate on an 
emerging cost basis, whereby increases in costs flow back to the client.  
Experience has demonstrated that there is a significant degree of uncertainty and 
risk of cost increase arising from such schemes.  Whilst every effort has been 
made to ensure estimates are prudent and reliable there remains a risk that costs 
on these schemes could increase which would necessitate the identification of 
additional funding wither through grant or additional borrowing. 

 
 
8. RESOURCE IMPLACTIONS 
 
8.1 Human Resources 
  
 None as a direct result of this report. 
 
8.2 Physical Assets  
 
 This report will provide resources to Merseytravel to undertake its asset 

management function in respect of the Mersey Tunnels and other LCRCA assets. 
 
8.3 Information Technology  
 
 None as a direct result of this report. 
 
 
9. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 None as a direct result of this report. 
 

Page 24



 
10. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Merseytravel has a duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of 

opportunity and foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.  Whilst the level of detail contained within this 
budget does not lend itself to a full appraisal of the operational implications with 
respect to equality and diversity, it is possible that there could be resultant 
implications for people who share a protected characteristic, for example older 
disabled people.  Therefore whilst there are no issues with the budget itself, any 
actions undertaken as part of the management of any savings, the equalities 
consequences will be fully appraised and any negative implications for any of the 
protected characteristics will be mitigated, where possible, subject to available 
resources. 

 
 
11. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 None directly arising from the report. 
 
 
12. CONCLUSION 
 
12.1 Revenue spend for the current year is in line to outturn in line with the current 

revised estimates.   
 
12.2 The draft revenue budget for 2021/22 is based on robust estimates and funding 

confirmed to the Merseytravel. 
 
12.3 Revenue estimates incorporate the proposed price increases for ferries.  The 

additional income allows Merseytravel to reduce the level of grant support required 
to support Mersey Ferries. 

 
12.4 Capital programme spend indicates a proposed capital spend of £160.09m and 

£144.05m for 2020/21 and 2021/22 respectively. 
 
12.5 The Director of Resources is able to give his assurances that the estimates 

contained within the draft budget are robust and that adequate reserves exist to 
meet foreseeable events. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Treasurer  

 
Contact Officers:- 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance (0151 330 1015) 
Joanna Sawyer, Communications Manager (Transport), Merseytravel (0151 330 1129) 
 
Appendices:- 
Appendix A – Merseytravel Revenue Budget 2021-22 
Appendix B – Merseytravel Capital Programme 2021-22 
 

Page 25



 
Background Documents:- 
None 

Page 26



APPENDIX A

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Asset Management

Total Employees 6,600,663

Total Premises 4,981,353

Total Transport 177,000

Total Supplies & Services 265,951

Total Income (1,892,373)

Total Asset Management 10,132,594

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Audit

Total Employees 575,960

Total Premises 221,218

Total Transport 242,637

Total Supplies & Services 420,346

Total Income (877,309)

Total Audit 582,852

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Bus Services

Total Employees 2,451,191

Total Premises 120,505

Total Transport 87,930

Total Supplies & Services 1,251,340

Total Third Party Payments 19,287,018

Total Income (3,644,000)

Total Bus Services 19,553,984

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Description

Description

Description

MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 BY SERVICE AREA

Description
Page 27



APPENDIX A

MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 BY SERVICE AREA

Sub-Service  - Concessionary Travel

Total Third Party Payments 54,408,815

Total Income (5,921,815)

Total Concessionary Travel 48,487,000

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Corporate Management

Total Employees 742,859

Total Transport 11,550

Total Supplies & Services 260,200

Total Third Party Payments 87,316

Total Income (279,633)

Total Corporate Management 822,293

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Corporate Costs

Total Employees 920,000

Total Supplies & Services 147,000

Total Income (319,000)

Total Corporate Costs 748,000

Description

Description

Page 28



APPENDIX A

MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Customer Delivery

Total Employees 3,812,745

Total Premises 1,968,367

Total Transport 5,660

Total Supplies & Services 498,444

Total Income (1,567,148)

Total Customer Delivery 4,718,069

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Mersey Ferries

Total Employees 1,976,920

Total Premises 879,134

Total Transport 61,661

Total Vessels 833,512

Total Supplies & Services 365,040

Total Income (2,205,675)

Total Mersey Ferries 1,910,592

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Finance

Total Employees 1,572,446

Total Transport 1,000

Total Supplies & Services 70,977

Total Income (384,919)

Total Finance 1,259,504

Description

Description

Description

Page 29



APPENDIX A

MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - IT

Total Employees 2,167,620

Total Transport 7,279

Total Supplies & Services 2,893,659

Total Income (590,394)

Total IT 4,478,164

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Legal

Total Employees 1,471,223

Total Transport 2,500

Total Supplies & Services 254,070

Total Income (519,848)

Total Legal 1,207,945

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - People & Customer Development

Total Employees 1,399,887

Total Transport 4,539

Total Supplies & Services 164,461

Total Income (386,301)

Total People & Customer Development 1,182,586

Description

Description

Description

Page 30



APPENDIX A

MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Programme Management Office

Total Employees 607,737

Total Transport 600

Total Supplies & Services 6,445

Total Income (162,787)

Total Programme Management Office 451,995

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Policy & LTP Development

Total Employees 469,910

Total Transport 1,900

Total Supplies & Services 1,900

Total Income (128,145)

Total Policy & LTP Development 345,565

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Rail Services

Total Employees 765,003

Total Premises 252,102

Total Transport 8,446

Total Supplies & Services 380,130

Total Third Party Payments 102,557,497

Total Income (97,219,594)

Total Rail Services 6,743,585

Description

Description

Description

Page 31



APPENDIX A

MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Mersey Tunnels - Direct Costs

Total Employees 4,209,284

Total Premises 3,038,357

Total Transport 147,558

Total Supplies & Services 1,329,842

Total Third Party Payments 8,251

Total Other Costs 7,480,000

Total Mersey Tunnels 16,213,292

Proposed 

Budget 2021/22

Sub-Service  - Rolling Stock

Total Employees 588,333

Total Supplies & Services 1,053,937

Total Third Party Payments 1,283,381

2,925,651

TOTAL MERSEYTRAVEL EMPLOYEES = 726

Total Rolling Stock

Description

Description

Page 32



APPENDIX B

MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22

2021/22

£'000

Bus Stop Upgrades 115

General Bus Stops 40

Bus Priorities 150

Bus Stop Accessibility Improvements 444

Bus/Rail Interchange 81

Green Bus Route Study 866

RTI Management Performance Analytics 150

Infrastructure for Electric Vehicles 20

West Derby Road Shelter Upgrades 100

QR Codes 50

Northway Bus Stop Improvements 100

Hydrogen Bus 7,650

Total Bus 9,766

LTRS Development 200

LSP Renewal 150

LSP Major Maintenance 500

Bromborough 200

Headbolt Lane 10,000

St James 3,600

LSP Platform 200

HS2/NPR 500

Access for All 5,150

Kirkby 150

Totem 100

Lea Green 2,500

Total Rail 23,250

MSA Rolling Stock 53,394

Depot Rolling Stock 1,484

Power Infrastructure 6,664

Train Lengthening 26,397

TCIS 4057

Energy Storage 2163

Total Rolling Stock 94,159

Seacombe Pontoon & Bridges 5,000

Critical Friend (G&W Marine) 50

Navel Architect (Keel Marine) 175

Seacombe Suspended Deck Repairs 550

Terminal Interfacing Works 150

Stages Pontoons Inspections & Remedials 100

Seacombe Terminal Building Remedial Works 100

Seacombe Terminal Building Systems Works 30

CCTV Refresh 50

Pier Head Toilets Refresh 50

Water Harvest System - Refurbishment 15

Staff Toilets and Locker Room Upgrade 30

Total Ferries 6,300

Scheme

Bus

Rail 

Rolling Stock

Ferries

Page 33



Delivery of the Vehicle Fleet Replacement strategy 75

Workshop Machinery Replacement 50

Queensway Tunnel Ventilation fan control replacement 120

Kingsway Concrete repairs and painting 450

Queensway Tunnel Ventilation Infrastructure repairs 500

Kingsway Concrete repairs and painting 500

Kingsway Tunnel, Eldonian site, removal of surplus spoil and fly tipping 250

Queensway Tunnel Ventilation Infrastructure repairs 100

Tunnels Public Address System Renewal 485

Critical Electrical Transformer and switch gear replacement 750

Upgrade of Tunnels Police mobile radio service 170

Enabling works as part of the demolition of the Kingsway Tunnel, Elevated 

Control Building 150

Replacement of the main water discharge pipework which prevents the 

Kingsway Tunnel from flooding 2,000

Video Tolling 700

Queensway Tunnel Ventilation Infrastructure repairs 200

Kingsway Tunnel ventilation enhancements 300

Tunnels proactive Incident Detection system 80

Delivery of the Vehicle Fleet Replacement strategy 100

Queensway Tunnel Ventilation Infrastructure repairs 450

Kingsway Tunnels approach road safety enhancements 50

Total Tunnels 7,480

CCTV Refresh 170

Total Customer Delivery 170

Infrastructure refresh and development 110

Sharepoint migration tool/Oneplace refresh 50

Performance Management System 100

Cisco UCS M3/M4 Blade Refresh 150

SCADA Firewall refresh 40

Desktop refresh 30

Rail reimbursement system 90

Web URL filtering 20

Sostenuto move to cloud 6

SIP Trunks 20

Tolls Xenteo Replacements 70

PCI Compliance 20

Data Centre improvements 50

Backup Infrastructure Tech Refresh 125

PWA Replacement 0

Cortex/KVM Replacement Police Control Rooms 180

Replacement and upgrade of Triple Play system 15

Total IT 1,076

Smart Ticketing Project 1,137

Total Smart Ticketing Project 1,137

ITB Congestion 350

Strategic Priorities 250

Total Corporate Strategy/Policy 600

Tunnels

Customer Delivery

IT

Smart Ticketing

Corporate Strategy/Policy

Page 34



Finance System - Agresso 20

Mann Island Replacement doors 60

Mann Island CCTV Upgrade 33

Total Corporate Services 113

TOTAL MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 144,051

Corporate Services

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     13 January 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Halton / Knowsley / Liverpool 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM DIRECTOR OF INTEGRATED TRANSPORT 
 

South Liverpool Global Gateway Eastern Access Corridor - Update 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Committee with an update 

on the progress being made toward the completion of the Outline Business Case 
(OBC) for the scheme. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Transport 

Committee: 
 

(a) Note the contents of this report for information purposes. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Eastern Access Corridor (EAC) is a new multi-modal transport route that will 

better connect the wider south estuary area in the vicinity of Liverpool John 
Lennon Airport (LJLA) to the strategic highway, public transport and sustainable 
transport networks. It will also support the growth of the South Liverpool economy, 
including the delivery of the surrounding development opportunities. The scheme 
and the surrounding development land opportunity has been titled South Liverpool 
Global Gateway. The EAC presents a prime opportunity to not only provide 
quicker and more direct access to LJLA and its surrounding opportunity sites, but 
also to relieve other key arterial routes such as A561 Speke Boulevard improving 
journey time reliability, resilience and air quality in the existing corridor. In doing 
so, the new access arrangements could support LJLA growth aspirations, drive 
local business activity and unlock regeneration of new sites and existing 
brownfield land across South Liverpool for business and housing development. A 
significant volume of work has already been undertaken to demonstrate the need 
for the scheme, set objectives, identify a long list of potential interventions, and 
produce a DfT TAG compliant Options Appraisal Report. 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



3.2 In August this year the Consultants WSP were appointed to develop the Outline 
Business Case (OBC) for the scheme with the option for them to subsequently 
complete the Full Business Case (FBC) should the scheme progress.   

 
3.3 Due to the commencement of the next stage of development of the scheme, the 

schemes Steering Group has been re-formed as part of the governance to 
oversee the development and direction of the scheme.  The group is made up of 
Combined Authority officers, WSP officers, representatives from each of the Local 
Authorities that this scheme will have impact upon, in addition to representatives 
from various key stakeholders including Peel and Liverpool John Lennon Airport. 
The Group has now met on four occasions and will now continue to meet bi-
monthly throughout the duration of the OBC development. 

 
3.4 In summary, the following tasks/activities have now been completed or remain 

ongoing by the consultant. 
 

 Review of the previous work completed (Strategic Outline Business Case) 
 

 Review of the existing traffic modelling and the commencement of the 
proposed model development. 
 

 Preparation of a desktop geotechnical study. 
 

 Preparation of a draft Consultation and Engagement strategy. 
 

 Review of the original scheme objectives. 
 

 Preparation of a draft Appraisal Specification Report (ASR). 
 

 Undertaken a highways design review of the current shortlisted options. 
 

 Undertaking the role of CDM Principal Designer. 
 

 Programme development. 
 

 Compilation of a scheme Risk Register. 
 

 Further to recent changes to Government legislation and guidance, 
appropriate walking and cycling facilities will be integrated into any 
proposed option. 

 
3.5 In terms of programme, WSP’s initial programme submitted at Tender stage 

defined the completion and submission of the OBC by autumn 2021, however this 
did come attached with some caveats one of which was the potential implications 
of COVID19.  The timescales in relation to a large engagement and consultation 
exercise have also been revised. This is now scheduled for summer 2021 to allow 
for meaningful consultation to take place.  It is hoped that by the summer some of 
the current COVID restrictions may have eased and that this may enable some 
face to face consultation to take place.  The reprogramming exercise is ongoing 
but is likely to push back the completion of the draft submission of the OBC to 
summer 2022.  This does not create any particular risk for the scheme as at this 

Page 38



stage a defined funding route for the scheme is yet to be established so the 
programme is not governed by having to meet a funding deadline. 

 
3.6 Risks and opportunities for the scheme are being considered and will continue to 

do so throughout the development of the OBC. To date there are no significant 
risks identified which give concern to the schemes development. 

 
3.7 In relation to the performance of the Consultant to date they are working extremely 

well with the CA and Steering Group. Positive working relationships amongst the 
project team have already been established.  They are in regular contact providing 
updates in addition to the monthly progress meetings that they attend. 

 
3.8 As a brief look ahead to the next three months the focus will be on the following: - 
 

 Refinement of the scheme objectives. 
 

 Completion of the Consultation and Engagement strategy 
 

 Refinement and development of the traffic model in advance of running 
scheme options. 
 

 Design layout development of the shortlisted options. 
 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. Financial 
 
 Funding is in place for the Consultants commission to prepare the OBC.  To date 

there have been some minor change controls submitted relating to additional work 
activity which was not included within the original tender submission. 

 
4.2. Human Resources 
 
 The Consultants commission is being overseen and project managed by the KRN 

Manager who is also the chair of the scheme Steering Group. This is in support 
from colleagues from other teams across the LCRCA including; LTP Development, 
Transport Policy and Commercial Development & Investment teams. 

 
4.3. Physical Assets 
 
 There are currently no physical asset implications in relation to this report. 
 
4.4. Information Technology 
 
 There are no I.T implications in relation to this report. 
 
 
  

Page 39



5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 As detailed earlier within this report, risks and opportunities are under regular 

review by the Consultant, Combined Authority officers and the Members of the 
Steering Group. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no equality and diversity implications in relation to this report.  However, 

it should be noted that the scheme will be developed to incorporate active travel 
infrastructure to reflect the requirements of the recent publications by the 
Government and DfT for walking and cycling. (LTN1/20 and Gear Change) 

 
 
7. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 As referenced earlier within this report, once a final draft of the Consultation and 

Engagement plan is completed this will be shared for comment with the CA’s 
Communications Team.  Should there be any further amendments required 
following that review they will be incorporated within the final approved document. 

 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
  
 There are no privacy implications in relation to this report. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 This report has described the current progress of the scheme, its challenges and 

the next steps for the coming months.  A further update report will be brought back 
to this Committee later in the year. 

 
 

SHANE FITZPATRICK 
 Interim Director of Integrated Transport 

 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Andy Sawyer – Key Route Network Manager  
andrew.sawyer@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
Ben O’Brien - Head of Communications, Marketing & Corporate Engagement 
ben.obrien@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
N/A 
 

Page 40

mailto:andrew.sawyer@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:ben.obrien@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


Background Documents:  
 
N/A 
 
 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee 
 
Meeting:     13 January 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No  
 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF POLICY AND STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING  
 

SUBMISSION OF EVIDENCE TO THE TRANSPORT SELECT COMMITTEE- 
MAJOR TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS: APPRAISAL AND DELIVERY 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. This report alerts members to an opportunity to submit evidence to the 

Government‟s Transport Select Committee inquiry on the appraisal and delivery of 
major transport projects in the UK.   

 
1.2. The issues are of great importance in the context of the Liverpool City Region‟s 

transport and “Building Back Better” economic recovery plans.  
 
1.3. As such, this report sets outs a draft response for consideration and endorsement 

by Members, ahead of its submission to the Select Committee‟s secretariat on 15th 
January 2021. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Combined Authority‟s Transport Committee considers 

the draft written evidence set out in Appendix One to this report and agree that this 
be submitted to the Select Committee‟s secretariat ahead of the deadline of 15 
January 2021. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 On 4 December 2020, the Transport Select Committee launched a call for 

evidence in relation to its inquiry on major transport projects in the UK:   
 
 https://committees.parliament.uk/work/887/major-transport-infrastructure-projects-

appraisal-and-delivery/  
 
3.2 The inquiry will look at the appraisal and delivery of UK major transport 

infrastructure projects, to better understand what lessons can be learned and 
applied.  It stems from the fact that billions of pounds of investment have been 
committed to the UK‟s transport infrastructure during 2020.  The Department for 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7

https://committees.parliament.uk/work/887/major-transport-infrastructure-projects-appraisal-and-delivery/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/887/major-transport-infrastructure-projects-appraisal-and-delivery/


Transport is a key Government department in appraising, managing and delivering 
transport infrastructure projects. 

 
3.3 Along with Crossrail, High Speed Two and the Road Investment Strategy, the 

Department for Transport has a further 24 projects on the Government‟s Major 
Projects Portfolio.  

 
3.4 The inquiry will consider transport infrastructure strategy and priorities; the 

appraisal and funding of transport infrastructure; oversight, accountability and 
governance of transport infrastructure projects; factors influencing the cost and 
capacity and skills required to deliver the infrastructure plans. 

 
3.5 The extent to which the coronavirus pandemic and its longer-term implications will 

affect the necessity and cost-effectiveness of current and future major transport 
infrastructure projects will factor in the Committee‟s work. The Government also 
has a legal commitment to meet net-zero carbon emissions by 2050 and 
infrastructure is a major contributor to the UK‟s greenhouse gas emissions. 

 
3.6 More specifically, the Select Committee is calling for written evidence on all or 

some of the following terms of reference:- 
 

Transport infrastructure strategy and priorities  
 
 The Government‟s transport infrastructure priorities, including those set 

out in the National Infrastructure Strategy;  
 the contribution transport infrastructure can make to the Government‟s 

„levelling-up‟ agenda and the economic growth of the UK‟s towns, cities 
and regions outside London;  

 to what extent the coronavirus pandemic and its longer-term implications 
affects the necessity and cost-effectiveness of current and future major 
transport infrastructure projects;  

 how major transport projects can be delivered while ensuring the 
Government meets its de-carbonisation 2050 net-zero targets;   

 
Appraisal and funding of transport infrastructure   
 
 The effectiveness of the Government‟s decision-making and appraisal 

processes for transport infrastructure projects and any changes required 
to the „Green Book‟;  

 Oversight, accountability and governance of transport infrastructure 
projects  

 The Government‟s role in the delivery of major transport infrastructure 
projects, including whether the Department for Transport has sufficient 
skills and expertise to oversee the successful delivery of 
transport infrastructure; 

 the relationship between the DfT and other Government departments and 
agencies, devolved administrations, and the private sector, in delivering 
major infrastructure projects;  

 

  

Page 44



 

Factors influencing the cost of transport infrastructure in the UK   
 
 The reasons for continual high costs of major transport infrastructure 

projects, both past and present, and whether projects could potentially be 
delivered in a more cost-effective manner;  

 what lessons can be learned from other countries in the delivery of major 
transport infrastructure projects;  

 
Transport infrastructure capacity and skills   
 
 the extent to which there is enough capacity and the right skills within the 

UK to deliver the Government‟s transport infrastructure plans, and options 
to help address shortages in transport infrastructure skills.  

 

 
 
4. DRAFT RESPONSE 
 
4.1 The draft response is set out within Appendix One to this report for Members‟ 

consideration.   
 
4.2 The issues raised in the evidence will be familiar to Members, as they draw on 

agreed policy statements and positions, together with relevant responses on 
related issues e.g. evidence agreed on the Impact of Coronavirus on UK 
Transport, and Reforming Public Transport After the Pandemic.   

 
4.3 The evidence has been structured under the headings set out in the terms of 

reference, and can be summarised as follows: 
 

Transport infrastructure strategy and priorities 
 
(a) The role of transport infrastructure in „levelling up‟ and supporting 

sustainable economic growth is supported by an extensive evidence base.  
Notably, this draws on the evidence commissioned by Transport for the 
North on the urgency and value of rebalancing the UK through better 
transport connectivity across the North and through associated 
agglomeration benefits; 

 
(b) The importance of spreading the benefits of HS2 across the North through 

the delivery of both HS2 and the full Northern Powerhouse Rail network in 
line with original defined and agreed specifications and outputs cannot be 
overestimated.  Further there is a danger that vitally important economic 
recovery schemes, such as the expansion of Central Station, could be 
hampered by Government funding definitions; 

 
(c) The importance of funds being devolved (both capital and revenue) to 

Combined Authorities to support delivery against their agreed objectives, 
with greater certainty and confidence. 

 
 

 

Page 45



Appraisal and funding of transport infrastructure   
 

(a) The evidence reiterates the importance of greater emphasis on the need 
for a business case to align with objectives, its place-based impacts and 
deliverability, rather than its Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) in isolation.  This 
is to ensure support for schemes where there is a clear strategic argument 
for their need and a recognition that “northern” schemes typically have 
weaker BCRs than those in the south and south east. It is hoped that the 
review of the Treasury Green book will assist in this regard.  

 
(b) The evidence cites examples of complex, cross boundary schemes such 

as the Borderlands Line and the Halton Curve, where benefits are spread 
across national boundaries, yet where a compelling strategic narrative 
exists  

 
Oversight, accountability and governance of transport infrastructure projects 
 
(a) The evidence draws from recent reports and review by expert panels and 

commissions, including those by the Infrastructure and Projects Authority, 
by Sir Peter Hendy and by Dame Colette Bowe on practical steps that 
might be taken to ensure more effective future planning and delivery.  

 
(b) On governance, the evidence highlights the role of the Northern Transport 

Acceleration Council (NTAC) and its unclear overlap with Transport for the 
North, with a suggestion that the Select Committee seeks more 
transparency in its role and function, and measures of success.  

 
Factors influencing the cost of transport infrastructure in the UK   
 
(a) The response draws from a 2016 study published in 2016 that highlights 

international best practices and remedies for these problems; 
 
(b) The response also draws on the importance of practical measures, such 

as investing adequate funding into thorough site investigations and 
undertaking quantified robust risk assessment prior to construction 
commencing, to mitigate against additional material and delay costs;  

  
(c) Additional costs and delays also occur as a result of procrastination, 

process reviews or overly rigorous assessment of alternatives, despite the 
merits of an intervention being proven and clear.  The evidence cites the 
example of the detailed and costly assessment of the fundamentally sub-
standard Fiddlers Ferry Northern Powerhouse Rail route option into 
Liverpool.    

 
Transport infrastructure capacity and skills   
 
(a) The evidence highlights the importance of skills demand being matched 

with the supply, and the need for the Government‟s transport infrastructure 
plans to be integrated and sequenced with those of the rest of the 
economy;   

 

Page 46



(b) The response also draws out the importance of suitable investment in 
operational aspects, citing the LCRCA‟s project to deliver new rolling stock 
for the Merseyrail network and in working with Stadler to ensure that local 
staff have the knowledge to ensure safe and reliable running of the fleet 
from inception; 

 
(c) The response highlights the important relationship between transport 

infrastructure and the visitor economy, which is of great importance to the 
LCR and has been badly affected by COVID-19 restrictions.   

 
(d) It also identifies the availability of new technologies and fuels in the LCR 

(e.g. hydrogen power) and the opportunities these present for new skill 
sets and specialisms to be developed. 

 
 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct implications as a result of this report. 
 
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 There are no direct implications as a result of this report. 
 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct implications as a result of this report, 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 This evidence to the Transport Select Committee provides a helpful opportunity to 

reiterate established priorities and concerns to the LCR Combined Authority on the 
devolution of funds and the delivery of critically important projects, such as 
Northern Powerhouse Rail to Liverpool, Central Station and cross-boundary 
schemes.  It also reiterates key messages within the COVID-19 Economic 
Recovery Plan “Building Back Better”. 

 
 
9. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
  
 There are no implications 
 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 This report alerts members to an important opportunity to submit evidence to the 

Government‟s Transport Select Committee inquiry on the appraisal and delivery of 
major transport projects in the UK. The evidence has been structured under the 
headings set out in the terms of reference and is set out in Appendix One to this 
report. 

Page 47



 
10.2 Members are requested to consider and endorse this written evidence to allow its 

submission to the Select Committee‟s secretariat ahead of the deadline of   
15 January 2021. 

 
 
 

KIRSTY MCLEAN 
   Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning  

 
 
 

Contact Officer(s):   
 
Huw Jenkins, Lead Officer - Transport Policy 
Suzanne Cain, Transport Policy Co-ordinator 
Gus Riddy, Government Relations & Public Affairs Officer 
 
Appendix: 
Appendix One – Draft written evidence to the Transport Select Committee 
 
Background Documents: 
None 
 

Page 48



Page 1 of 6 

Transport Select Committee Inquiry  
Major transport infrastructure projects: appraisal and delivery 

 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority - Written Evidence Submission 

 
January 2021 

DRAFT 
 

Introduction 
 
1. The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority welcomes the opportunity to provide evidence to the 

inquiry into major transport infrastructure projects.  This is important and timely in supporting the 
acceleration of sustainable, inclusive economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, and in 
support of longstanding rebalancing and decarbonisation objectives. This response is submitted by 
the Mayor of the Liverpool City Region, on behalf of the Combined Authority. It was considered and 
endorsed by members of the Combined Authority‟s Transport Committee on 13 January 2021. 

 
2. The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) was established in 2014 and Steve 

Rotheram became the City Region‟s first directly elected Metro Mayor in 2017; it brings together 
Liverpool City Region‟s six local authorities: Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, St Helens and 
Wirral. The Combined Authority draws on powers and funds that were made available through the 
2015 Devolution Deal and follow-on deal in 2016. These powers include strategic transport planning 
across the City Region, alongside economic development and regeneration, housing and spatial 
planning, employment and skills. It also exercises powers over a devolved and consolidated multi-
year funding package.  

 
3. The LCRCA‟s goal is to drive prosperity, encourage innovation and expand opportunities for people 

and communities in every part of the city region. It will do this by becoming a clean, healthy and net 
zero carbon-emitting city region by 2040. 

 
 
Transport infrastructure strategy and priorities 
 

 The Government‟s transport infrastructure priorities, including those set out in the National 
Infrastructure Strategy;  

 the contribution transport infrastructure can make to the Government‟s „levelling-up‟ agenda and the 
economic growth of the UK‟s towns, cities and regions outside London;  

 to what extent the coronavirus pandemic and its longer-term implications affects the necessity and 
cost-effectiveness of current and future major transport infrastructure projects;  

 how major transport projects can be delivered while ensuring the Government meets its 
decarbonisation 2050 net-zero targets;   

 
4. The role of transport infrastructure in „levelling up‟ and supporting sustainable economic growth can 

draw from many precedents and is supported by an extensive evidence base.  In June 2014, when 
the then Chancellor unveiled initial plans for the Northern Powerhouse, it was aimed at helping to 
improve the economic performance of the North, which had a 25% economic performance gap with 
the rest of the country. Central to these plans were better transport connections across the North, 
recognising its potential as a polycentric region to make a step change in performance, helping to 
rebalance the economy, or “level-up”.  

 
5. A detailed evidence base1 has also been built around the role of transport infrastructure in spreading 

the benefits of HS2 across the North. This reflects the imbalance between levels of investment and 
connectivity in the north of England compared to the south and south west of the county. This also 
draws from the agglomeration benefits seen as a result of mass transit links in many European 
regions such as the Randstad in the Netherlands and the Rhine-Ruhr in Germany.   

                                                             
1
 The Northern Powerhouse Independent Economic Review – Final Executive Summary Report (June 2016) 

http://www.transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/Northern-Powerhouse-Independent-Economic-Review-
Executive-Summary.pdf 

Page 49

http://www.transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/Northern-Powerhouse-Independent-Economic-Review-Executive-Summary.pdf
http://www.transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/Northern-Powerhouse-Independent-Economic-Review-Executive-Summary.pdf


Page 2 of 6 

 
6. Delivery of both HS2 and full Northern Powerhouse Rail remain central to realising the vision of the 

Northern Powerhouse; meaning the complete Liverpool –> Manchester –> Sheffield/Leeds –> 
Hull/Newcastle network, since the growth of the North as a whole is at risk if only partial solutions 
are delivered. It is imperative that these two programmes are considered as an integrated whole to 
ensure the optimum connectivity and capacity is achieved.  The LCRCA has calculated the £15 
billion economic boost2 this would bring, yet the scheme remains at the options evaluation stage. 

 
7. Air quality, and its impact on public health, has not, historically, been a primary concern in the 

development of the Government‟s priority schemes. This is changing, which is welcome. The 
COVID-19 pandemic provides a stark reminder of the links between clean air and health3, and all 
aspects of society and the economy – a clear dependency, not a trade-off.  As an example of how 
this approach can be translated locally by Government, the Transforming Cities Fund offers 
significant levers for us to direct our support to approaches which foster environmentally sustainable 
transport, and to ensure that new sites for housing and employment are served by sustainable 
transport solutions which seek to improve health outcomes for local residents. By devolving the 
funds and powers from Coronavirus Bus Services Support Grant and Bus Services Operators Grant 
(reformed to incentivise green fuel – something that is long overdue) in a bus management package, 
local authorities would be afforded another significant lever to drive positive change in emissions 
and service consistency and quality.  

 
8. More generally, a long-term devolved, flexible funding package (including both capital and revenue 

components to fully achieve the desired the benefits) is essential to achieving meaningful transport 
reform, this should be based on a pro rata formula per head of population to ensure all areas are 
equitably funded if we are to genuinely “level up”. Too often funding levels are subject to change, 
lack transparency or are only available through a competitive bidding process, leading to inefficient 
“stop-start” activities rather than long-term structural change. This is exemplified by the 
announcement of the £4bn Levelling-up Fund; control of the fund sits with Westminster, and the 
requirement for local areas to submit competitive bids risks pitting areas against each other and 
does not hand power to communities, surely the central tenet of “levelling-up”.  

 
9. This long-term commitment is particularly relevant to major infrastructure projects, and most notably 

rail schemes, given the complex, costly and protracted gestation of such projects because of the rail 
industry structure. Whilst recognising the validity of Network Rail‟s processes for managing safety 
risk and cost escalation, it can take several years to reach project implementation, and the 
associated development costs in the early stages are in themselves not insubstantial.  

 
10. Perhaps one of the main challenges facing the LCR is Liverpool Central Station, which is close to 

capacity on the Northern Line platform and concourse area. As such, Liverpool Central is identified 
as a key priority for the City Region in taking forward any further improvements on the rail network. 
The LCRCA is currently undertaking a development review at Liverpool Central to fully understand 
the impact of the expected growth in rail demand. But if the funding is directed at “national priorities”, 
there is a danger that local schemes will lose out, despite the capacity improvements being an 
integral project to our post-pandemic Economic Recovery Plan4. 

 
11. The Select Committee will undoubtedly be looking to build on the evidence submitted for its recent 

calls for evidence on the Impact of Coronavirus on UK Transport, and Reforming Public Transport 
After the Pandemic.  There has been a disproportionate effect of the COVID-19 crisis across the UK. 
The financial impacts for many local authorities are stark and unsustainable and will inevitably have 
a significant bearing on post-COVID public transport reform. In respect of this, the focus must be on 
the serious financial and viability issues faced, and longer-term legacies and risks. The lack of 
available detail on the 2021-2022 transport funding package following the recent spending review is 
of deep concern, considering the tight timescales. Funding certainty is thus critical, to allow local 

                                                             
2
 LCRA’s economic evidence on the benefit of a new High Speed 2 and Northern Powerhouse link to Liverpool 

http://www.linkingliverpool.org/#keyfacts  
3
 Liverpool City Region Air Quality Action Plan, December 2020 - https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-

content/uploads/LCRCA-AIR-QUALITY-ACTION-PLAN-2020.pdf  
4
 Building Back Better (July 2020) 

 https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_BBB_2020.pdf 
Page 50

http://www.linkingliverpool.org/#keyfacts
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA-AIR-QUALITY-ACTION-PLAN-2020.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA-AIR-QUALITY-ACTION-PLAN-2020.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_BBB_2020.pdf


Page 3 of 6 

authorities, the transport sector and contractors to be able to plan ahead with greater certainty and 
confidence. 

 
 
Appraisal and funding of transport infrastructure   
 

 The effectiveness of the Government‟s decision-making and appraisal processes for transport 
infrastructure projects and any changes required to the „Green Book‟; 

 
12. As the Select Committee will be aware, this year's spending review included some changes to the 

Green Book - which guides how business cases are put together. The key message was that this 
review would help business cases in the North and other areas outside the South East, and give 
more consideration to environmental impacts. This is to be welcomed. Overall, there are no 
significant changes to the mechanisms or calculations used, but the message that "a business case 
is not just about the Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR)" is reinforced. There is greater emphasis on the 
need for a business case to align with government objectives, its place-based impacts and 
deliverability, rather than the BCR alone.   

 
13. It is now critical that the improvements to the Green Book are translated to transport scheme 

appraisal, not least to ensure the intended benefits of the review are realised and to support 
schemes where there is a clear strategic argument for their need, but where the economic case 
shows a weaker performance. Likewise, the role of transport schemes in delivering transformational 
change, rather than in simply shifting economic activity across the UK, needs to be reflected more 
overtly.  A prime example locally of a strategically important scheme is the long overdue 
improvements to the Borderlands Line, running between Bidston in Wirral, England, and Wrexham 
to deliver much-needed improved frequency and connectivity. Whilst the business case is not 
necessarily the strongest, it is recognised for its economic importance in linking two mutually 
supportive enterprise zones (Deeside and Mersey Waters including Liverpool and Wirral Waters) 
and in supporting access to education, leisure and retail.  The role of these schemes in tackling car-
based commuting and supporting improved air quality and decarbonisation also need to be more 
clearly factored into the appraisal process, as fundamental or non-negotiable aspects rather than as 
additional benefits.  

 
14. Schemes that straddle national boundaries are particularly challenging. The biggest challenge when 

securing funds is when the investment in infrastructure lies in one nation, but most of the economic 
benefits will fall in another. This is exemplified by the £18.75m investment in the Halton Curve, 
linking the Chester-Warrington to Liverpool-Crewe lines at Frodsham Junction, but will ultimately 
improve links to Deeside Enterprise Zone and North Wales, and thereby boost the Welsh economy. 
Strong and effective partnership working is supporting the development of a robust demand study to 
improve service quality on the Borderlands Line. However, solutions will be dependent upon funds, 
and appraisal methodologies, being aligned across the separate administrations.  

 
 
Oversight, accountability and governance of transport infrastructure projects 
 

 The Government‟s role in the delivery of major transport infrastructure projects, including whether 
the Department for Transport has sufficient skills and expertise to oversee the successful delivery of 
transport infrastructure; 

 the relationship between the DfT and other Government departments and agencies, devolved 
administrations, and the private sector, in delivering major infrastructure projects; 

 
15. In October 2013 the Office for Rail Regulation set out Network Rail‟s funding, and expected outputs, 

for CP5 including a planned £11.5bn for infrastructure upgrades, or “enhancements”. By 25 June 
2015, the schemes were “costing more and taking longer” than forecast, and Sir Peter Hendy was 
commissioned to re-plan how this investment could be delivered. At the same time, Dame Colette 
Bowe was asked to consider the lessons to be learned from the planning process, and the practical 
steps that might be taken to ensure more effective future planning and delivery.  

 

Page 51



Page 4 of 6 

16. She concluded5 that there was no single overarching cause for the cost escalation and delays, with 
a number of issues contributing including the blurred lines of responsibility between DfT, Network 
Rail and the ORR, and inadequate internal programme and portfolio management, and the 
complexity of the portfolio of scheme, with poor scope definition, had led to cost increases.  Her 
recommendations called for DfT to be significantly more active in prioritising strategic objectives, 
allocating funding for schemes in the early stages of development, and introducing greater flexibility 
to adjust the programme in response to emerging pressures. She concluded that complex schemes 
should be subject to integrated governance frameworks, and reflect the whole-system requirements 
of such upgrades (including greater involvement of operators), and that project, programme and 
portfolio management practices should be introduced throughout the process; noting in particular the 
key issues of assurance, integration, and risk management.  

 
17. It could be inferred that these recommendations are reflected in the introduction of the Northern 

Transport Acceleration Council (NTAC). The LCRCA believes that this move does not negate the 
need for decision-making and budgets to be devolved to the north of England. Its overlap with 
Transport for the North is somewhat unclear, since devolution of budgetary control over the 
investment pipeline for northern strategic transport infrastructure was a prerequisite to the delivery of 
TfN‟s Strategic Transport Plan objectives. Little has been made public with respect to the workings 
of NTAC, and it would be helpful for the Select Committee to seek more transparency in its role and 
function and ask what parameters have been put in place to measure its success.  

 
18. In terms of looking at Governance, the Committee‟s attention should be drawn to a 2016 study6 

commissioned by the Infrastructure and Projects Authority which “provides further diagnostics on 
addressing common capability gaps that typically need to be enhanced, such as blurred governance 
structures, or lack of alignment between benefits and requirements.” The report says that effective 
project governance is critical to project success, and that: 

 

 5 of the 8 common causes of project failure identified by the OGC in 2005 are attributable to 
weak governance;  

 7 of the 10 common causes of confidence identified by the OGC in 2010 are attributable to good 
governance;  

 Following a review of 40 studies of government projects, the NAO developed guidance on 
Initiating Successful Projects (2011). It identifies 5 elements that are fundamental to successful 
project delivery of which establishing good governance underpins 3;  

 ICE Client Best Practice Guide (2009) cites establishing effective governance as one of six key 
responsibilities for client organisation;  

 PWC‟s 2012 Global study on Project Management trends identified that weak governance was 
the main contributor to project failure. 

 
19. For infrastructure projects, good governance is a balance between the natural desire of sponsor(s) 

to retain control, and the need of the delivery team to have sufficient freedom to allow it to manage 
the risk to meet the project objectives. It is characterised by:  

 

 a clear statement of the objectives and parameters for delivery between the sponsor(s) and the 
execution team including arrangements for remedy in the event of difficulty;  

 the project being sufficiently autonomous with a single controlling mind;  

 a clear system of delegation and determined process for timely decisions that fall outside the 
limits of delegation;  

 a determined process for controlling change;  

 a determined process for reporting and other communications between the sponsor(s) and 
execution team;  

 a collaborative culture and working relationship between sponsor(s) and execution team;  

                                                             
5
 Report of the Bowe Review into the planning of Network Rail’s Enhancements Programme 2014-2019 (November 2015) 

https://www.gov.uk/Government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479560/bowe-review.pdf 
6
 Infrastructure and Projects Authority – Improving Infrastructure Delivery: Project Initiation Routemap -  

Governance Module  (June 2016) 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/529337/0643_Governa
nce_Module.pdf 

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479560/bowe-review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/529337/0643_Governance_Module.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/529337/0643_Governance_Module.pdf


Page 5 of 6 

 board members have sufficient understanding of the project context to make reasonable timely 
decisions (or seek advice to help them); and  

 a defined system for assurance at all levels. 
 

 
Factors influencing the cost of transport infrastructure in the UK   
 

 The reasons for continual high costs of major transport infrastructure projects, both past and 
present, and whether projects could potentially be delivered in a more cost-effective manner;  

 what lessons can be learned from other countries in the delivery of major transport infrastructure 
projects;  

 
20. A study7 published in 2016 has highlighted that while cost overruns and schedule delays on 

infrastructure projects are predictable – and in some cases avoidable, “International best practices 
suggest at least five remedies for these problems”: 

 

 Improved performance monitoring, reporting, and information sharing since data management is 
becoming increasingly sophisticated; 

 Tracking and rewarding the best-performing companies and contractors to ensure more 
predictable outcomes;  

 Staff overseeing megaprojects should be better trained in management skills such as enforcing 
contracts and resolving disputes;  

 Government should draw on more precise forecasting techniques based on data about previous 
projects;  

 Public-private partnerships can make it easier to control costs and enforce deadlines. 
 
21. This suggests that paying attention to project planning, being realistic not optimistic, and learning 

from past mistakes all have a role to play. But, as the Select Committee has alluded, it often falls to 
the project team having “enough capacity and the right skills” in the first place. 

 
22. With respect to inadequate pre-construction planning and/or site investigation, there are always risks 

on major projects particularly those that require extensive groundworks, although it is true that some 
projects may not invest adequate funding into thorough site/ground investigation prior to 
construction commencing, which will inevitably lead to additional material and delay costs. This can 
be mitigated by ensuring detailed design work is fully completed before tenders are issued and 
construction commences.  Whilst this does perhaps “state the obvious”, some projects commence 
before the design for latter stages are fully signed off, which can present unnecessary risk. 

 
23. Better use of the local supply chain for both labour, service provision and materials supply, is a key 

factor. Often, this is a result of either using pre-approved lists of contractors, or the local suppliers do 
not feature on the supply chain of the main contractor.  Not only can this add unnecessary cost, it us 
unsustainable to create lengthy journeys to deliver and export materials when the haulage costs 
could be significantly reduced. Authorities like the LCRCA also need to have clarity and security 
when accessing central government funds, so that suppliers and materials can be lined up 
accordingly and not lost to other projects.  

 
24. Finally, additional costs are expended through the independent reviews summarised above, and the 

procrastination over alternatives, despite the merits of an intervention being proven and clear.  
Whilst the evaluation of processes to learn lessons from mistakes of the past is vital and undisputed, 
the LCRCA is frustrated by detailed, time consuming and costly work underway to assess NPR 
options that are fundamentally inappropriate, or else fail to meet defined outputs and objectives (e.g. 
the detailed assessment of options to re-use the existing freight railway from Warrington to Liverpool 
via Fiddlers Ferry).  

 

                                                             
7 Cost Overruns on Infrastructure Projects: Patterns, Causes, and Cures (Matti Siemiatycki, 2016) 
https://munkschool.utoronto.ca/imfg/uploads/334/imfg_perspectives_no11_costoverruns_matti_siemiatycki.pdf 
 

Page 53

https://munkschool.utoronto.ca/imfg/uploads/334/imfg_perspectives_no11_costoverruns_matti_siemiatycki.pdf


Page 6 of 6 

Transport infrastructure capacity and skills   
 

 the extent to which there is enough capacity and the right skills within the UK to deliver the 
Government‟s transport infrastructure plans, and options to help address shortages in transport 
infrastructure skills. 

 
25. The extent to which the skills demand (employers and businesses) is matched with the supply 

(people, education and training provision) is determined by a range of factors. Of critical importance 
is the contextualisation of the Government‟s transport infrastructure plans with those of the rest of 
the economy and the sequencing and location of these; to a greater or lesser degree, many of the 
activities, workflows and processes for taking forward transport infrastructure projects will require 
people with the knowledge, skills and experience that are transferable to other areas of the economy 
and other sectors, and the impact this has.   

 
26. More specifically, as many large transport infrastructure projects are location biased, with a large 

number of major infrastructure schemes planned or in delivery in the south or south east, this 
creates a skills and labour imbalance.  This imbalance risks inhibiting the take-up of skilled trades or 
engineering opportunities in areas where demand for these skills is lower, or else requires skilled 
employees from typically northern towns and cities to seek employment elsewhere. This 
exacerbates the economic imbalance that exists across the UK and addressing this must be a 
fundamental aim of the „levelling up‟ agenda.   

 
27. There is also a need to recognise that investment in transport infrastructure skills includes suitable 

investment in operational aspects. To demonstrate this point, we ask the Select Committee to 
consider the LCRCA‟s project to deliver new rolling stock for the Merseyrail network, through a 
£460m investment by the LCRCA (due to be arriving in 2020, there will obviously be delays as a 
result of Covid-19.) The publicly-owned trains are being manufactured and maintained by Swiss 
manufacturer, Stadler, to a locally determined specification, in line with local network infrastructure 
upgrades and investment in a new fleet operational maintenance facility in Liverpool. Local 
management is working with Stadler to ensure that local staff have the knowledge to ensure safe 
and reliable running of the fleet from inception. Other rail companies investing in new rolling stock 
(specification largely determined by the DfT) have been inhibited by the skills and knowledge 
required to rectify issues only being available in the country of manufacturing origin - leading to 
operational failure and limits. 

  
28. Increasingly, logistics functions are integrated with Electronic Point of Sale (EPOS) transactions 

instigating logistics freight movements. Drivers need to be confident and skilled in their use of 
technology, and consideration needs to be made of the ageing workforce for HGV. Training 
resource is needed to bring fresh people into the sector. Pipelines can be established with fast food 
couriers being trained into supermarket home delivery roles, with opportunity to progress into HGV; 
this may need resourcing. 

 
29. The links between transport infrastructure and the visitor economy can often be overlooked in the 

consideration of the relationship between infrastructure and skills; the visitor economy is vital to the 
whole of the LCR and acts as a major driver of economic growth and prosperity. It is worth more 
than £4.2bn worth of GVA a year to our economy providing 52,000 jobs. The COVID-19 pandemic 
has had a devastating impact on the visitor economy and hospitality industry.  However, clean, 
effective and attractive transport services and new infrastructure are vital in supporting recovery, by 
opening opportunities for staff and visitors in ways that are not dependent on private transport.   

 
30. Finally, in terms of technology and related opportunities, the LCR is home to many hydrogen 

production sites including INOVYN, BOC Linde, ESSAR (Stanlow) and CF Fertilizers. As such, there 
is significant local hydrogen production capacity and ability within LCR (current and future) to fuel 
more than buses. The challenge is creating sufficient demand moving forward, i.e. increased 
willingness from suppliers to grow this area to meet customer demand. In addition, the growing 
adoption of electric vehicles has direct implications for physicists, chemists and manufacturing 
engineers working on fuel cell technology, but creates a wider demand for qualified electricians and 
construction skills to install charging points, and a new skill set for mechanics to repair and maintain 
electric vehicles. 

Page 54


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	4 Mersey Tunnel Tolls 2020/21
	5 Merseytravel Budget Setting Report - 2021/22
	Enc. A Merseytravel Revenue Budget 2021-22
	Enc. B for Merseytravel Budget Setting Report - 2021/22

	6 South Liverpool Global Gateway Eastern Access Corridor - Update
	7 Submission of Evidence to the Transport Select Committee- Major Transport Infrastructure Projects:Appraisal and Delivery
	Enc. 1 for Select Committee Inquiry - Major Transport Infrastructure Projects


